IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellant,	The same of the sa
vs.) CASE NOT. 72,383
CARLTON ROLLE,	\$ID J. WHITE) MAY 23 1988
Appellee.)
	CLERK, SUFREME COURT By Dopus Clerk

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD G. BARTMON
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution, and Appellee, CARLTON ROLLE, was the defendant, in the trial proceedings held in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. The State of Florida was designated Appellee and Carlton Rolle, the Appellant, in direct appellate proceedings before the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

In this brief, the STATE OF FLORIDA and CARLTON ROLLE will be referred to as Appellant and Appellee, respectively.

Additionally, the symbol AA means Appellant's Appendix, attached to its Initial Brief herein; and "e.a." means "emphasis added." The Fourth District's opinion in this case, included as Exhibit A in Appellant's Appendix, will be referred to in its slip opinion form. "R" will refer to the Record, as constituted before the Fourth District, in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 9, 1986; April 1, 1987; and May 6, 1987, Appellee was charged by information and amended information, in Palm Beach County, Florida, with the commission of felony driving under the influence. (R, 322-323); 330-331; 336-337). After a jury trial, Appellee was found guilty (R, 339), and sentenced to a one-year county jail term. (R, 3550.

Upon appeal of his conviction and sentence, the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on April 27, 1988, reversing Appellee's conviction and sentence, and remanding the proceedings for a new trial. (AA, Exh.A). Rolle v. State, 13 HW 1030 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 27, 1988); slip opinion, at 1-7. In its opinion, the Fourth District held §316.1934(2)(c), Fla. State. (1985), and a jury instruction given to purportedly convey the permissible inference contained in the statute, as both constitutionally invalid. Rolle, slip opinion, at 3-7). Appellant filed an emergency motion for stay relief, pending resolution of this appeal before this Court, on April 28, 1988, (AA, Exh.B), which was granted, on April 29, 1988. (AA, Exh.C). On April 28, 1988, Appellant filed its notice of appeal, to invoke this Court's appellate jurisdiction, to review a decision of the Fourth District, declaring a state (AA, Exh.D). statute invalid.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal arises, from the Fourth District's opinion, declaring §316.1934(2)(c), Fla. Stat.(1985), and jury instructions given on the impact, on the issue of Appellee's impairment, of blood alcohol test results, to be Unconstitutional. (AA, Exh.A).

The evidence at trial established that Appellee was first observed by Officer Richard Cascio, in Tequesta, Florida, at approximately 11:00 p.m. on the night of November 9, 1986, in a blue van, which was facing east, on a westbound public road, on the wrong side of the median (R, 53, 56). As the officer drove up, Appellee made a left turn, through a red light, and traveled across three lanes of traffic, and into the curb lane, before proceeding. (R, 54). Upon being stopped by Officer Cascio, Appellee's head, arms and shoulders were hanging out of the driver's window, and his speech was slurred and incomprehensible to the officer. (R, 55, 56). When Appellee got out of the van, he had to hold the door, to do so. (R, 56). Appellee's eyes were bloodshot; his breath smelled of alcoholic beverages. (R, 56,57,78). Appellee took 1-1/2 minutes, according to the officer, to "fumble" through his wallet, to try and find his driver's license. (R, 56-57). Appellee swayed, like a "figure 8", during a roadside balance test, and lost his balance after the third step, of a roadside "heel-to-toe" test. (R, 60,65,87). He did not follow directions, given

during certain of the roadside, and subsequent station house tests. (R, 64,162). During the roadside stop, Appellee recited the alphabet, more slowly than his other speech, and more slowly than other people whom Cascio had stopped, for drunken driving. (R, 66,82,85). At the station house, Appellee admitted having a few beers during the day. (R, 153). In two station house breathalyzer tests, the results were a .18 and .20 blood alcohol level, and these results were admitted into evidence. (R, 192). The breathalyzer maintenance operator, testified that Appellee had a .19 blood alcohol content level, at the time of the stop, about one hour before the breath tests were taken. (R, 157,200).

Appellee objected, at a charge conference, to the constitutionality of §316.1934(2)(c), and the jury instructions on the effect of a .10% or higher blood alcohol content level, on the issue of impairment. (R, 233,234). The court, without discussion, denied and/or overruled Appellee's objections. (R, 236).

In instructing the jury, the trial judge stated:

If you find from the evidence that the defendant had a blood alcohol level of .10 percent or more, that evidence would be sufficient by itself to establish that the defendant was under the influence of alcohol to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired. However, such evidence may be contradicted or rebutted by other evidence.

(R, 273). Thereafter, the court instructed the jury that evidence of blood alcohol level, "may or may not reflect"

the actual level of alcohol in Appellee's blood, when he was driving; that Appellee's presumption of innocence remained, unless the State proved all elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt; that it was up to the jury to decide what evidence was "believable" or "reliable"; and that the jury was free to evaluate, believe or disbelieve any witnesses.

(R, 273-278).

After about one hour of deliberations, the jury sent out a note, relaying the fact that there were five jurors for guilt, and one for not guilty, and asking if the jury could "view the videotape again." (R, 287). Upon the agreement of the parties, the jury reviewed the videotape, (R, 292), and the judge instructed the jury that only the jury could resolve any conflicts in evidence, urging them to listen to each other's views, and to continue to try and reach a verdict. (R, 290,291). The jury's verdict of guilty was returned, ten minutes after continuing deliberations, upon viewing the videotape. (R, 292,293).

In its ruling, the Fourth District regarded 9316.1934 (2)(c), as mandating to a juror, under <u>Francis v. Franklin</u>, 471 U.S. 307 (1985), that a .10% blood alcohol content compelled a finding of guilt of DUI, unless the defendant rebutted this presumption, <u>Rolle</u>, <u>slip opinion</u>, at 3,4. The court found this to be an improper shift, of the burden of persuasion, to a defendant, and concluded that a reasonable juror could have understood the subject instruction to have improperly

shifted this burden. Rolle, at 3-5. The court's analysis of the statute as Unconstitutional, stemmed from its analysis of the instruction as such. Rolle, at 3-5. The court found that both the statute and instruction Unconstitutionally "commanded" a juror to find the presumed fact of impairment, from the basic fact of a .10% or higher blood alcohol content level, in violation of Appellee's due process rights. Rolle, at 6. The court finally rejected harmless error, concluding it could not be said, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Appellee would have been convicted, absent the offending instruction. Rolle, at 6-7.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

\$316.1934(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), violated Appellee's due process rights, by shifting the burden of persuasion to Appellee. The language of the statute did not relieve the State, of the burden of proof of guilt, beyond a reasonable doubt. The statute's non-limitation of other evidence, pertaining to impairment, to be presented by either State or defendant (aside from blood alcohol test results), evinces clear legislative intent to create a permissible, not mandatory inference. The statute properly served as a guide to juries, permitting consideration of scientifically reliable evidence, as circumstantial evidence of guilt of DUI-related offenses.

The Fourth District's analysis was contrary to the appropriate due process analysis of presumption statutes, which concentrates on themanner in which the statute is conveyed to a jury, by instructions. It was error to merely "bootstrap" an invalid statute, from a conclusion that the instructions were Constitutionally invalid. The case law, involving DUI presumption statutes, have taken this approach, and have approved such statutes as Constitutional, even while invalidating corresponding jury instructions. Rules of statutory construction, and the existence of other valid "prima facie" evidentiary inference statutes, demonstrate that §316.1934 (2)(c), supra, is constitutionally valid.

of a guilty verdict, including a deadlocked jury, which asked to review the videotape, demonstrate that the jury's verdict could not or was not based, on a perception that the jury instructions imposed a mandatory presumption of impairment, from blood alcohol tests. The record establishes that the verdict was based on proper burden-allocation instructions, given after the allegedly offending one.

In the event this Court views the instructions as unconstitutional, a proposed revision of the jury instructions should be approved or recommended. Such a ruling should not be applied retroactively, in view of law enforcement's prior reliance on the present form of instruction, and the disastrous impact on the judicial system, if so applied.

111. In view of overwhelming evidence of the presumed fact of impairment, featuring undisputed evidence of Appellee's physical condition, any error in the jury instructions did not prejudice Appellee, to the extent of reversible error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED, IN CONCLUDING THAT §316.1934(2)(c), <u>FLA. STAT.</u> (1985) WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AS DENIAL OF APPELLEE'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF DUE PROCESS, MERELY ON BASIS THAT JURY INSTRUCTION WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID.

In reversing Appellee's conviction, for felony driving under the influence (hereinafter referred to as "DUI"), the Fourth District invalidated both the "presumption of impairment" statute (\$316.1934 (2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), and the jury instruction on the impact of blood-alcohol content ("BAC") level evidence, as Unconstitutional denials of due process. Rolle v. State, Case No. 87-2089 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 27, 1988), slip.op., at 1-7. In holding this state statute invalid, the Fourth District's analysis and conclusions equated the nature and impact of the statute, with that of the jury instruction actually conveyed to the jury, to find that the statutory provision created an Unconstitutional mandatory presumption. Rolle, slip.op., supra, at 4-6. This approach and analysis, erroneously ignored the focus of Federal, Florida and other State court decisions, involving presumptions in criminal cases and corresponding due process concerns, upon the manner in which a valid presumption statute is conveyed and explained to a jury, by instruction, not upon the validity of the statute itself. Upon examination of the proper and appropriate anal-

In the interest of convenience, Appellant's references to the Fourth District's opinion, will be to its slip opinion form, attached and incorporated herein as Exh. A, in the Appendix. The Rolle decision is presently reported at 13 F.L.W. 1030 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 27, 1988).

ysis, it is apparent that this Court should reverse the Fourth District's ruling, and uphold the statute providing for evidentiary inferences to be drawn from BAC levels, as a legitimate expression of legislative intent to facilitate the punishment and deterence of drunk driving on Florida roads.

The effect of \$316.1934(2)(c), <u>supra</u>, permits evidence of a .10 BAC level to be utilized, as a factual inference of impairment, in DUI-related prosecutions. In pertinent part, this statute provides as follows:

[316.1934](2) Upon the trial of any civil or criminal action or proceeding arising out of acts alleged to have been committed by any person while driving, or in actual physical control of, a vehicle while under the influence of alcoholic beverages or controlled substances, when affected to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired ... the results of any test administered in accordance with S 316.1932 or \$ 316.1933 and this section shall be admissible into evidence when otherwise admissible, and the amount of alcohol in the person's blood at the time alleged, as shown by chemical analysis of the person's blood or breath, shall give rise to the following presumptions:

(c) If there was at that time 0.10 percent or more by weight of alcohol in the person's blood, that fact shall be prima facie evidence that the person was under the influence of alcoholic beverages to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired. Moreover, such person who has a blood alcohol level of 0.10 percent or above is guilty of driving, or being in actual physical control of, a motor vehicle, with an unlawful

blood alcohol level.....The foregoing provisions of this subsection shall not be construed as limiting the introduction of any other competent evidence bearing upon the question whether the person was under the influence of alcoholic beverages to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired.

This section does not relieve the State, of its ultimate burden of proof in criminal DUI charges, or remove the presumption of innocence from a defendant. State v. Waters, 436 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1983); v. Kahler, 232 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1970). Significantly, the statute's express language, encouraging and not limiting the introduction of additional evidence besides BAC, by the State and defendant, on the issue of impairment, demonstrates a clear legislative intention to create a permissive inference, not a mandatory presumption. §316.1934 (2)(c), supra; Salazar v. State, 505 So.2d 1287, 1291 (Ala Cr App 1986); Commonwealth v. DiFrancesco, 329 A 2d 204, 207 (Pa. 1974); State v. Cooke, 155 SE 2d 165, 170 (N Car 1967). An intention to impose a conclusive, mandatory presumption, by BAC levels alone, of .10 percent or above, is clearly not expressed in the statute, by an reasonable construction, when the subject statute provides for the State's introduction of other evidence on the issue. Under similar reasoning, this language significantly permits, and does not discourage, the presentation and consideration of defensive evidence. Moome v. State, 728 SW 2d 928, 931 (Tex App - Houston (14th Dist) 1987); Salazar, 505 So.2d, supra, at 1291.

Additionally, the statute itself, based on its express language, does not mandate that a BAC level be accepted, as conclusive,

dispositive evidence of guilt. Id. The statute merely operates as a guide to juries, via the use of scientific evidence, in their ultimate determination of whether a defendant is "impaired," and/or guilty of DUI as defined in 5316.193. County Court of Ulster County, New York v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 99 S.Ct 2213, 60 L.Ed.2d 777, 792 (1979). The "prima facie'' evidentiary inference, allows the trial of fact, to permissibly infer one fact from another, by use of an evidentiary tool that is probative' and circumstantial. Ulster County, supra; N.C. v. State, 478 So.2d 1142, 1146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); State v. Young, 217 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1968); Commonwealth v. Crum, 523 A 2d 799, 803 (Pa Super 1987). The statute, in creating this factual inference, does not shift the burden of persuation to a defendant, to bear the burden of proof of his innocence.

The Fourth District's analysis, in focusing on the jury instruction given, to invalidate the statute, Rolle, slip op., at 4, 6, followed similar ''bootstrap" analysis used by the Eleventh Circuit, in Miller v. Norvell, 775 F.2d 1572 (11th Cir. 1985). This approach is not only contrary to the aforementioned decisions herein, but violates the proper method of due process analysis adopted by the U.S. Supreme Court, in evaluating the Constitutionality of criminal presumption statutes.

Neither Appellee, nor the Fourth District in its opinion, challenged the validity of the rational connection between BAC level measurements, and the fact of impairment, or the value of BAC measurements themselves. This aspect of due process analysis is not at issue here, and has been decided adversely to Appellee's position in Florida and elsewhere. Roberts v. State, 329 So.2d 296 (Fla. 1976); State v. Hamza, 342 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1977); Hall v. State, 440 So.2d 689, 690 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); State v. Tussier, 511 A 2d 958 (RI 1986).

The appropriate due process analysis, as outlined in the Ulster County decision, supra, demonstrates a legitimate dichotomy between the principles of presumptions, as expressed in statutes, and the manner in which the presumption device is translated, by Constitutionally acceptable jury instructions. Unquestionably, the courts have validated the use of criminal statutory inferences and presumptions, as a "staple" of the criminal justice system that aids in factv. United States, 412 U.S. 837 (1973); finding. Ulster County, 60 L.Ed. 2d, at 791; Barnes supra; Young, supra; Kahler, supra. Such inferences are regarded as necessary procedural tools, permitting the trier of fact to determine "ultimate" facts from "basic" facts. Ulster County; Barnes, supra. In Ulster County, the Court specifically held that in considering the Constitutional validity of statutory presumptions, a reviewing court must examine the application of the actual perspective of the presumption, as given to the jury by instructions. Ulster County, 60 L.Ed.2d, at 795. The Court specifically determined that it had not, and would not, analyze such presumptions, based on review of statutes on their Ed. The Court further reiterated the significance of jury instructions as the appropriate and dispositive inquiry, by examining the results of decisions which evaluated similar presumption statutes, and came to differing conclusions, based on the difference in the instructions given. Ulster County, 90 L.E.2d, at 792-794, n. 16.3

In <u>United States v. Gainey</u>, 380 U.S. 63 (1965), and <u>United States v. Romano</u>, 382 U.S. 136 (1965), the subject statutory presumption concerned a similar "basic" fact presence at the location of an illegal liquor "still", as evidence of ''carrying on" a distilling business (<u>Gainey</u>, <u>supra</u>), and ''possession, custody or ... control" of such a business, in violation of Federal law. Although the same presump-

See also, McCormick, Evidence, 5347 (3rd ed.), at p. 997; 997, n. 68.

The significance in these distinctions is paramount. It is evident that the decisions in <u>Sandstrom v. Montana</u>, 442 U.S. 510 (1979), and <u>Francis v. Franklin</u>, 471 U.S. 307 (1985), involved examination of the Constitutionality of presumptions, <u>as reflected in jury instructions</u>. Those courts did <u>not</u> (as the Eleventh Circuit did in <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>), invalidate the murder statutes, as similarly defective, as an <u>ipso facto</u> result of the invalid nature of the instructions. More significantly, in several pre- and post-<u>Francis</u> decisions, appellate courts examined due process challenges to statutory presumptions of BAC levels and "impairment" elements of DUI offenses, and <u>upheld</u> the <u>statutory</u> presumption, while <u>invalidating</u> the actual jury <u>instructions</u> conveying this presumption.

It is evident that the Fourth District's ruling, regarded some past decisions of this Court and other Florida District appellate courts, as "no longer viable," because they pre-date the <u>Francis</u> decision. <u>Rolle</u>, <u>slip op.</u>, at 3. However, an examination of several <u>post-Francis</u> decisions, in other states, is not only <u>instructive</u>, but persuasively reiterates the reasoning of <u>pre-Francis</u> cases, upholding pre-

tion existed in both cases, the outcome of Constitutionality in <u>Gainey</u>, and Unconstitutionality in <u>Romano</u>, largely turned on the permissive and mandatory nature of the jury instructions, defining the nature and scope of the same presumtions, respectively, in the two cases. <u>Ulster County</u>, at 792-793, n. 16; <u>Gainey</u>, 380 U.S., <u>supra</u>, at 69-70; <u>Romano</u>, 382 U.S., <u>supra</u>, at 138-139.

There appears to be no other <u>Florida appellate</u> court decisions, post-<u>Francis</u>, that have examined the issue of DUI statutory presumptions, and jury instructions, in light of <u>Francis</u>.

sumptions expressed in state statutes. 5

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