OA 8-29.88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

Vs.

Case No. 72,383

CARLTON ROLLE,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Governmental Center
301 N. Olive Ave. - 9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 820-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellee

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

The order in which the various instructions are given has no effect on this principle, contrary to what the state asserts as a "distinction" (page 27 of brief) between the instant case and

<u>Francis</u>. Indeed, some of the other instructions discussed in <u>Francis</u>, like those relied on here by the state, actually came after the challenged one. 471 U.S. at 318-320, 105 S.Ct. at 1974, 85 L.Ed.2d at 356-357. Moreover, the quotation offered by the state from footnote 7 of <u>Francis</u> (page 27 of brief) was in response to the dissent's reliance upon later instructions, a reliance rejected by the majority. In any event, whatever the order of the instructions, a reviewing court still has no way of knowing which ones the jurors applied. <u>Francis</u>, 471 U.S. at 322, 105 S.Ct. at 1975, 85 L.Ed.2d at 358.

The further instructions discussed by the state concerning the basic fact of blood alcohol level at the time of the offense do not bear upon the presumption itself. First, the instruction quoted by the state applied to the "relation back" of the reading at the time of the test to the blood alcohol level at the time of driving. This is an issue separate from the meaning and effect of the blood alcohol level itself, at no matter what time; the latter is the province of the presumption. Second, the facts basic to any presumption must of course be established before the presumption can be applied. No matter how firmly they are established, however, they still cannot justify application of a mandatory rebuttable presumption.

The fact that the jury viewed the video tape of Mr. Rolle a second time during deliberations does not, as contended by the state, show that the jurors "could not possibly" have interpreted the presumption instruction as mandatory (page 28 of brief). First, any emphasis afforded to the tape, or to any other piece

of evidence for that matter, would not have counteracted the improper jury instruction; on the contrary, it is the other way around — it is the jury instructions which give meaning to the evidence. Second, the only instruction given in conjunction with the second viewing of the tape was the standard deadlock charge, asking the jurors to continue their deliberations. This instruction offered no guidance on the law or on the proper consideration of the evidence, and therefore did nothing to counteract the original defective instruction on the presumption.

Finally, and most importantly, no matter what questions the jury might ask, it is still impossible to know, absent some sort of direct inquiry, how the jurors arrived at their verdict and what weight they gave to the various instructions and pieces of evidence. As long as the verdict could have been based, even partially, on a mandatory rebuttable presumption, it cannot stand. When a case is submitted to the jury on alternative theories, the unconstitutionality of any one of the theories requires that the conviction be set aside. Sandstrom v. Montana, supra, 442 U.S. at 526, 99 S.Ct. at 2460, 61 L.Ed.2d at 52.

C.

The state also dwells at great length in this point upon the issue of prospective or retrospective application of a decision invalidating the jury instruction in question. Although the state's concerns may be valid, the issue is not before this Court in this case. The benefit of a decision invalidating the instruction must obviously be extended to Mr. Rolle, especially

in view of the fact that at his trial he raised the exact constitutional objections which were the foundation for his appeal in the District Court of Appeal (R 233-234,285-286). The question of how the decision will apply to other cases will have to await cases coming before the courts in appropriate postures. In any event, it is worth noting that the United States Supreme Court recently decided in favor of retrospective application of Francis v. Franklin in Yates v. Aiken, U.S., 108 S.Ct. 534 (1988).

D.

The state suggests that this Court should correct the defective jury instruction in the instant case by adopting a constitutionally correct one. In the event that this Court does decide that the statute authorizes a jury instruction on a presumption (see Point I in this brief arguing otherwise), then Appellee Rolle agrees that this Court should promulgate a correct instruction. The instruction proposed by the state appears to meet constitutional standards. See also, the guidelines for DUI instructions set forth in Commonwealth v. Crum, 523 A.2d 799 (Penn.App. 1987) and Commonwealth v. DiFrancesco, 329 A.2d 204 (Penn. 1974).

ARGUMENT

POINT III

THE ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON A MANDA-TORY PRESUMPTION OF IMPAIRMENT FROM BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL WAS NOT HARMLESS ERROR UNDER CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS [RESTATED].

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in its decision on this case correctly applied the constitutional harmless error standard to the evidence and concluded that it could not hold harmless the mandatory jury instruction because it could not say beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have convicted Mr. Rolle absent the defective instruction. Improper application of a mandatory rebuttable presumption is error of constitutional dimension. (See Point II in this brief.) Therefore, only the constitutional harmless error standard may be applied. correctly applied by the District Court of Appeal, this standard is that a constitutional error cannot be held harmless unless the reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that it did not contribute to the verdict. Miller v. Norvell, 775 F.2d 1572, 1576 (11th Cir. 1985); Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967).

The state's contention that there was overwhelming evidence of Mr. Rolle's impairment, besides the breath test reading which was the basis for the instruction on the presumption of impairment, is not borne out by the record. Most significantly, in this case there was no accident, no injury, no speeding, and no

reckless driving. Instead, the state relies upon Mr. Rolle's traffic infractions (for which he was apparently not charged) and his performance on physical tests at the roadside.

Regarding the driving infractions, it is true that Mr. Rolle was observed by police stopped at an intersection facing the wrong way on a divided highway. He was also observed to make a left turn through a red light. However, the police also testified that Mr. Rolle was not obstructing traffic at the intersection, and that he drove in a straight line as he pulled away (R 53-54,76). Mr. Rolle's errors in driving are just that and not necessarily evidence of impairment. Pulling out the wrong way onto one side of a divided four lane road, which because of the median could appear to be a two lane road, is an understandable error. Turning off of the road at the next intersection when no traffic was coming, despite the red light, could in fact be the safest way to correct the initial error.

Regarding the roadside physical tests, the criticisms of the administering officer, Officer Cascio, were minor. Although Mr. Rolle swayed during the balance test, he did not lose his balance. On the finger-to-nose test, Cascio's criticism was that Mr. Rolle bent his elbow in a manner which Cascio thought incorrect. On the heel-to-toe test, requiring six steps forward and six steps back, Mr. Rolle lost his balance after three steps the first time, but the second time he completed eight before being told to stop. Finally, although Mr. Rolle was slow in

reciting the alphabet, he did it successfully (R 58-66). Cascio also testified that Mr. Rolle was polite and cooperative when stopped (R 77).

Physical tests were also administered a second time at the police station, although they are not discussed by the state. Again, Mr. Rolle completed the tests substantially correctly with minor errors. Officer Woodard testified that Mr. Rolle successfully walked a line, but that after turning around he came back only five steps instead of the required six. He did the one leg stand correctly, although he did not count by thousands as required. Mr. Rolle performed the finger-to-nose test correctly once he learned how, although to the best of Woodard's recollection he might not have hit the center of the tip of his nose. The officer testified that Mr. Rolle was polite and cooperative, that his speech was fair, and that he was oriented as to time and place (R 160-166).

The District Court of Appeal was correct in concluding that it could not be said beyond a reasonable doubt that this other evidence alone would have led the jury to convict Mr. Rolle. Obviously, the crucial evidence in the case was the breath test. Instructing the jury that, in effect, it was obligated to convict because of the test results could not have been harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. \P

The cases cited by the state are all distinguishable. Two deal with sufficient evidence of corpus delicti for admission of the defendant's statements. State v. Edwards, 463 So.2d 551 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); County of Dade v. Pedigo, 181 So.2d 720 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). Of course this is not the same as evidence sufficient for a finding of harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Benyei, 508 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 5th

DCA 1987) concerned the essential element of physical control of an automobile rather than the element of intoxication. In both State v. Macias, 481 So.2d 979 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) and People v. Hickox, 751 P.2d 645 (Col.App. 1987), the evidence of guilt held to be overwhelming was much stronger than that in the instant case. In Macias, the defendant was observed by police for six blocks driving in an erratic manner, swaying from side to side, and at times crossing the center line. In Hickox, the defendant lost control of his pickup truck and caused two accidents and serious injuries to two other persons. There was also direct testimony that the defendant before the accidents had shared a pitcher of beer and had also drunk several other beers while driving.

ARGUMENT

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLEE ROLLE GUILTY OF FELONY DUI IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF OF THREE PRIOR DUI CONVICTIONS.

This point has not been addressed by the state in its brief. However, it was raised by Appellee Rolle in the District Court of Appeal as his Point 11. Once this Court has jurisdiction, it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case. Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986). In the event that this Court rules against Appellee Rolle on the consitutional issues presented in Points I, 11, and III of this appeal, then this Court should go on to consider this point and Point V, since they both provide alternative bases for this Court to uphold, at least partially, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision ordering a new trial for Mr. Rolle.

This point involves the predicate of three prior DUI convictions necessary for a felony DUI conviction. Mr. Rolle in this case was tried and found guilty of felony DUI, a crime which depends on proof of three prior DUI convictions (R 330,339,354). Section 316.193(2)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1986). There was insufficient evidence of prior convictions because, although copies of citations, docket sheets, and a driving record bearing Mr. Rolle's name were introduced (R 308-311), there was no evidence whatsoever of Mr. Rolle's identity as the previously-convicted individual. Moreover, even if there had been sufficient evidence of identity, the documents themselves still would

have been insufficient to prove the priors. The defense objected to the documents both before trial and at sentencing, and also moved for judgment of acquittal on the felony on the ground of insufficient evidence of identification regarding the priors (R 6-16,308-314). The overruling of the objections and the denial of the motion led to an improper felony conviction.

On a charge of a second or subsequent offense, the prior conviction is an essential element of the offense charged. Sparkman v. State Prison Custodian, 18 So.2d 772 (Fla. 1944). It is the responsibility of the prosecution in a second offender proceeding to prove the prior conviction by competent evidence; the existence of the prior conviction is a fact to be proved as any other fact. Shargaa v. State, 102 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1958).

The state must not only introduce records of prior convictions, but must also prove the identity of the defendant as the person previously convicted. To do this, the state cannot rely alone on similarity or identity of names of the defendant and the person previously convicted. Thompson v. State, 66 Fla. 206, 63 So. 423 (1913); Clinton v. State, 196 So. 684 (Fla. 1940); Fulford v. State, 113 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959). Here, identity of names and some other peripheral information including date of birth and driver's license number was all that connected Mr. Rolle to the documents introduced by the state. In fact, the court specifically and incorrectly ruled that name, date of birth, and driver's license number were sufficient for admission (R 16, 311).

No witness appeared at Mr. Rolle's trial to identify him as the recipient of the prior convictions, nor did the state attempt identification through fingerprint or handwriting comparison, as suggested by the defense (R 16). Case law makes it quite clear the type of identification evidence which is acceptable in conjunction with proper documentation: testimony by the police officer who arrested the defendant for the prior offense, Dowling v. State, 210 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968); testimony by the judge who presided at the prior trial, Warren v. State, 74 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1954); testimony by the prosecutor at the prior trial, Sharqaa v. State, supra; testimony by prison superintendent, Fulford v. State, supra, citing Parrish v. State, 90 Fla. 25, 105 So. 131 (1925); or testimony by fingerprint expert, Manning v. State, 456 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). No such testimony was introduced in the instant case. The omission of such connecting evidence compels a reversal. Thompson v. State, supra.

Even if there had been sufficient connecting evidence of identification, however, the documents themselves still would have been insufficient. Proof of a prior conviction which is an element of an offense must be technical and specific. State v. Dixon, 193 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). The essential elements to proving a prior conviction by proper record are: the information, the plea of the accused, the jurisdiction of the court, the verdict of the jury, and the judgment and sentence of the court. Dowling v. State, supra; Ferquson v. State, supra; Warren v. State, supra.

Here, only traffic citations (equivalent to informations, it is conceded) and docket sheets were introduced. None of the other required documents besides the citations were produced: plea, verdict, and most importantly judgment and sentence. Only a written judgment, rendered in open court, signed by the judge, and recorded, would have been sufficient. Rule 3.670, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The driving record cannot be accepted because it is not even a court record, but merely a hearsay compilation. (The citations, docket sheets, and driving record are all included in the Supplemental Record).

Even if this Court overturns the District Court of Appeal's decision ordering a new trial on the guilt phase, based upon the argument in this point on appeal this Court must at least uphold the District Court of Appeal to the extent of ordering reduction of the conviction to misdemeanor DUI, since Mr. Rolle was found guilty of the felony in the absence of sufficient evidence of the required prior convictions. The conviction on insufficient evidence for the felony violated Mr. Rolle's rights to due process and a fair trial under Article I, Sections 9 and 16, Florida Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, United States Constitution.

ARGUMENT

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING A JURY TRIAL ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER APPELLEE ROLLE WAS GUILTY OF FELONY DUI BY VIRTUE OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS.

Like Point IV, this issue is being raised by Appellee Rolle as an alternative ground for this Court to uphold at least partially the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision ordering a new trial, in the event that this Court should overturn that court's decision on the presumption of impairment. This point was raised by Mr. Rolle as his Point III in the District Court of Appeal. This Court has discretion to consider this issue as well as the issues raised by the state. Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986).

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